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INTRODUCTION

In July of 1989, the City of Newport News received a
Threatened Properties Grant from the Virginia Department of
Historic Resources to survey its historic architecture, identify
the most significant architectural resources and plan for the
preservation of the most significant properties (Figure 1).

On November 14, 1989, Roberta G. Reid signed a contract with
the City of Newport News to undertake a reconnaissance-level
survey of the architecture of Newport News. The services to be
provided included: development of a historic context for the study
area, a field survey of 275 structures, an intensive survey of 25
of the most significant structures, compilation of a list of
standing structures and districts that may be eligible for the
National Register, and preparation of a final report summarizing
the data. The contract was executed on December 18, 1989. The
contract did not include identification of or recommendations for
archaeological resources.

Contract negotiations were conducted with Paul F. Miller,
Director of the Department of Planning and Development and Kevin
Wilkins, Project Coordinator with the Department of Planning and
Development. Negotiations resulted in a study area (Figure 2)
that included the following boundaries:

North: 50th Street

East: Newport News/Hampton dividing line
West: James River

South: Hampton Roads

The study area was later altered since it became obvious that
more than 275 structures existed within those limits. The
historic context was developed for the entire study area but the
field study of 275 structures was limited to the following
boundaries:

North: 50th Street

East: CSX railroad property
West: James River

South: Hampton Roads

Martha W. McCartney provided consulting services for
development of the historical background and themes. The City of
Newport News provided matching services in the form of project
coordination, training sessions for volunteers, Xxeroxing, and
provided City staff for surveying, typing, graphics, and
printing.

Kevin Wilkins served as Project Coordinator. Kevin worked to
see that the project ran smoothly. He communicated with the
Virginia Department of Historic Resources, arranged for entry to
City~owned buildings, planned training sessions, coordinated the
editing process, and made a multitude of telephone calls regarding
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the project. Kevin was often willing to drop whatever project he
was in the middle of in order to assist.

David Edwards, Architectural Historian with the Virginia
Department of Historic Resources, served as state liaison for the
project. David helped to work out contract details, monitored
contract progress, and gladly ventured to Newport News on several
occasions both to offer training and to discuss the significance
of various buildings.
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HISTORICAL BACKGROUND



RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Archival research was undertaken in support of a preliminary
architectural survey of historic structures in the city of Newport
News. Research commenced with the examination of Virginia map
collections that are in repository at the Library of Congress,
National Archives, Virginia State Library, Virginia Historical
Society, the Virginia Department of Historic Resources and the
Colonial Williamsburg Foundation Research Archives. Historical
maps were used that are on file at the West Avenue and Grissom
Libraries in Newport News, the Charles Taylor Library in Hampton,
the Hampton Center for the Arts and Humanities, the Natiomnal
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration in Rockville, Maryland, and
the Huntington Library in San Marino, Califormnia.

Maps of Newport News that commencing in 1885 were produced by
the Sanborn Insurance Company and updated at frequent intervals
through 1950, were exceptionally helpful in tracking the
developmental sequence of the study area's built environment. The
Sanborn maps not only document the sites at which buildings were
constructed at given points in time, but also indicate their
function, dimensions and the materials of which they were
fabricated. Use was made of the Sanborn maps at the Library of
Congress, which collection is complete. These drawings (which are
color-coded as a means of identifying each building's fabric)
range in date from 1885 to 1950 and consist of eleven sequences of
renderings or approximately 373 individual map panels. In 1919,
the Sanborn Insurance Company's map-makers commenced identifying
the ethnic composition of the neighborhoods they surveyed. Many
of the illustrations in this report consist of Sanborn map
facsimiles.

Photographic collections at the National Archives, Library of
Congress, Valentine Museum, College of William and Mary and
Virginia State Library were searched. Issues of Harper's Weekly,
published during the Civil War and available on microfilm at the
Virginia State Library, were reviewed in an effort to locate
contemporary news accounts and illustrations that depict military
activity that occurred in what became Newport News.

A broad variety of primary resource documents were searched,
including Virginia Land Office patents and grants and Warwick
County deeds, wills, orders, minutes, personal property tax lists,
land tax lists, and school commissioners returms. Plats, tax
records, and code books for the city of Newport News were used.
Census records ranging in date from 1790 through 1910 were
examined as a means of gaining insight into the population's
socio-economic status, ethnic composition, profession/occupation,
and level of education. Late nineteenth and early twentieth
century census records also were used as a means of identifying
the various ethnic groups of which Newport News' population was
comprised during its earlier phases of development. Census
records included an immigrant's country of origin, date of
immigration, whether naturalization had occurred, and whether the



immigrant spoke English. Because blacks comprised such a large
percentage of the city's early population and neighborhoods
developed along ethnic lines, efforts were made to learn about
black community development. Black history research included
interviews with local citizens, members of the Virginia Society
for Black Family Research, and a review of legal codes that
fostered the segregation of the city's population. A publication
entitled Peninsula Roots also was examined for information on the
ethnic minorities that are included in the population of Newport
News. These data were compared with the 1900 and 1910 censuses
and the 1896-1897 and 1912 city directories.

Collections of private papers that are on file at the
Virginia Historical Society (including those of the Bagby family,
Caroline Kemper Bulkley, Samuel Werth, the Gordon family, Martha
Woodruff Hiden, Philip P. Wall, Hugh Blair Grigsby, the Wise
family, James M. Golloway, and the Palmore family) were examined.
Charles August Hennighausen's diary, James Luther Kibler's
letterbook, James E. McMurran's scrapbook, George B. Noyes'
letters, and Carroll F. Bennett's scrapbook also were reviewed.
Republican Party records for 1896-1926, the records of the
International Order of 0dd Fellows and the 1887 listing of license
fees collected for coasting vessels were found to be on file at
the Virginia Historical Society.

Warwick County records in repository at the New York Public
Library, but available on microfilm at the Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation Research Archives, were scanned, as were the Filmer
Papers. Warwick County documents that are located in the College
of William and Mary's Swem Library's Department of Special
Collections were searched. Issues of The Virginia Gazette and its
successor, The Virginia Gazette and Weekly Advertiser, were
reviewed, as were certain manuscripts that are on file in the
British Public Records Office in London, England. Documentary
sources pertaining to Civil War activity in the study area were
examined, as were records maintained by the Bureau of Refugees
between 1863 and 1866. Of special interest was a map from the
National Archives showing plots of ground allocated to freed
slaves during the Civil War and Reconstruction era, some of which
parcels lay within the city of Newport News.

Published sources from which background data were extracted
included local and regional histories and Civil War accounts.
Annie Lash Jester's Newport News, Virginia, 1607-1960, Parke
Rouse's Endless Harbor: The Story of Newport News and The Good 01d
Days in Hampton and Newport News and Alexander C. Brown's Newport
News' 325 Years: A Collection of Historical Articles were useful
in gaining a general knowledge of the study area, its historic
sites and the people and events associated with them. W. T.
Stauffer's articles on the old farms from which Newport News
originally was created were exceptionally helpful and found to be
reliable. Col. and Mrs. Arthur H. Vollertsen's work, Warwick

County, Virginia, 1782-1880, Who was Who, compiled under the
auspices of the Fort Eustis Historical and Archaeological




Association, provided a convenient means of analyzing early census
records. Historical Markers and Memorials, Newport News, Virginia
was a helpful guide to the city's better known historic sites.

Lewis P. Little's History of the First Baptist Church of
Newport News from 1883 to 1933; R. Cowles Taylor's Newport News
During the Second World War; the History of the Trinity
Evangelical Lutheran Church; Van Hawkins' Hampton/Newport News: A
Pictorial History and Dorothy and the Shipbuilders of Newport
News; Alexander C. Brown's The Good Ships of Newport News; Bennett
W. Green's How Newport News got its Name; the Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company's "Fifty Years of Shipbuilding;"
the Description of the Works of the Newport News Shipbuilding and
Dry Dock Company; and Howard J. Balison's Newport News Ships Their
History in Two World Wars were found to contain valuable
information on various aspects of the history of Newport News.
Articles that appeared in a broad variety of jourmals and
magazines, including Alexander C. Brown's "The Victory Arch at

Newport News;" Martha W. Hiden's "The Wilbern House;" Edwin G.
Long's "Port of Newport News, Doorway to World Transportation;"
Parke Rouse's "The Busy Port of Newpcrt News;" John Bowen's "The
Newport News-Warwick Merger;" Arthur K. Davis' '"Newport News in

Wartime;" Cerinda W. Evans' "Newport News: Origin of the Name;"

Hugh B. Grigsby's "Origin of the Name Newport News;" "A List of
Confederate Prisoners Who Died at the Union Prison Camp in Newport
News in 1865 and were buried in the Parker West Farm;" D.
Calhoun's "Report on Municipal Survey of Newport News 1919;" Lea
Booth Huntington's "Shipyard-Pride before Profit;" William H.
Byrn's "The Shipyard in the Atomic Age;" and Robert C. Cutler's
"The Shipyard in War and Peace" were useful.

1

During a visit to the Virginiana Room of the West Avenue
Library, an inventory of the 0ld Dominion Land Company's map
collection was examined. 1Included in this collection are many
early surveys of the tracts that were purchased by the 0ld
Dominion Land Company, measured drawings that show street grades,
culverts, sewer pipe lines, manhole sites and lot layouts, as well
as the plans for the Hotel Warwick. Plats also are available of
Camp Hill, Camp Stuart, Lee Hall, the James River Bridge, and
certain piers. The 0l1d Dominion Land Company's records, which are
voluminous, also detail the company's financial, personnel and
real estate operations.

Data previously accumulated during research on the Oakland
Farm Industrial Park, the Warwick County Courthouse, Boldrup and
the Denbigh Parish Church, proved useful. Benson J. Lossing's
pictorial histories of the American Revolution and Civil War were
reviewed as was Henry Howe's Historical Collections of Virginia.
Parke Rouse, Jr.'s transcription of the diary of George Benjamin
West, who lived on the lower peninsula during the Civil War,
of fered many insights into the events that transpired while the
Hampton-Newport News area was occupied by the Union Army. A
search for gemeral historical references dealing with Newport
News, Warwick County and the history of the area was conducted by




means of the College of William and Mary's Swem Library's computer
network.

DATA LIMITATIONS

Seventeenth century maps fail to identify with specificity
historic structural features that might have then been present
within the study area. Eighteenth century cartographers typically
identified major plantation seats, sites where urban development
had occurred, and those where military fortifications stood.
Several Civil War era cartographers prepared regional maps that
included the study area, perhaps eliminating from their drawings
structures that they did not consider strategically important.

Virginia's land patents, though available for much of the
seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, are vague incomplete and
those which predate 1673 are copies of the originals.
Consequently, land ownership traditions, in the absence of
references to natural features, sometimes must be determined
through indirect evidence. Data limitations with regard to county
court documents are severe, for most of Warwick County's
antebellum records were destroyed during the Civil War, were
carried off as war souvenirs, or were annihilated in 1865 during
the burning of Richmond. This void in land ownership data is off-
set to a considerable degree by information contained in land tax
lists, which commenced being compiled in 1782, for tax
commissioners often recorded when and how specific tracts of land
changed hands. In 1820, tax commissioners commenced recording the
collective worth of the improvements on the land they assessed.
Personal property tax records, besides providing detailed
information on household composition, social status and slave
ownership, also identify by name individuals who operated tavernms,
sold lottery tickets, had mercantile establishments, or were
members of certain professions. Commencing in the 1840s,
licensing records were maintained in special returns, kept by the
State Auditor's Office, although previous research has
demonstrated that some individuals operated their facilities or
plied their professions without the benefit of a license.
Agricultural census records reveal much about how local farmers,
during the nineteenth century, utilized their land.

THE HISTORY OF NEWPORT NEWS

Early Settlement and Development

The study area lies within the bounds of territory that
during the early seventeenth century was called Kecoughtan, a name
derived from the Native Americans who were living in the area when
the first party of English colonists arrived in Virginia. Captain
John Smith, in preparing his map of Virginia, called the Newport
News Point "Poynt Hope" (Smith 1610) (Figure 3:1). The
countryside near the mouth of the James River readily attracted
settlers, and early on, they moved into the region in considerable
numbers. The earliest dated reference to Newport News Point as a
geographical feature occurs in a document dated November 11, 1619,
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at which time the inhabitants of Kecoughtan were authorized to
establish themselves in that vicinity (Kingsbury 1906~
1935:I11:227). During the next decade colonists built homesteads
at Newport News (Newportes News), Blunt Point and Mulberry Island,
and along the Warwick River, Waters Creek, Skiffs Creek, and other
navigable streams, all of which lie within the modern city of
Newport News. A census taken in 1624 and a muster made in 1625
reveal that Elizabeth City (of which the study area was then part)
was the most populous of the colony's four corporations (Hotten
1980:182-188,240-241,244~264).

Daniel Gookin of Ripple Court, Kent County, England, made a
contract with the Virginia Company of London whereby he agreed to
transport cattle and goats to the colony and to sell various
commodities to the settlers there. In return, he was authorized
to establish a "particular plantation™ of the size that had been
allocated to Sir William Neuse, one of his contemporaries.1
Gookin, who was a tenant of the land and castle at Carygoline
(Carrigaline) alias Biever (Beauvoir) in County Cork, Ireland,
sold his 500 acre estate in County Longford, Ireland, and set sail
for Virginia with a ship-load of men and supplies. He was
prepared to trade and fulfill his obligation to the Virginia
Company and to seat men upon the land he intended to patent.
Virginia's governor, Francis Wyatt reported to Virginia Company
officials in London that on November 22, 1621 Daniel Gookin
arrived in the colony

. . .so well furnished with all sorts of provisions as well as
with cattle as we could wish all men would follow their
example. He hath also brought with him about fifty men upon
the adventure, besides some thirty other passengers; we have
according to their desire seated them at Newport News, and we
do conceive great hope (if the Irish plantation prosper) that
from Ireland great multitudes of people will be like to come
thither [Kingsbury 1906-1935:I11:587].

Records of the Virginia Company indicate that Gookin intended to
transport 300 persons to the colony; surviving patents indicate,
however, that he brought in only about 1/3 that number of new
immigrants. Gookin and his men, who had come to Virginia aboard
the Flying Hart, may have fortified their position soon after
arriving in the colony, for they escaped harm during the March 22,
1622 Indian uprising. Later, Gookin declined to evacuate his
plantation in favor of a more secure position, stating that he

lprivate individuals or groups of investors could receive a
patent to a substantial quantity of land if they paid for
outfitting and transporting a group of settlers to the colony.
Under the headright system, 50 acres of land were awarded for
every person transported to Virginia. William Newse of Newcetown,
Ireland, came to Virginia in 1620 and seated himself at Elizabeth
City. He proposed to settle 1,000 persons in the colony before
1625 (Meyer and Dorman 1986:311).



"thought himselfe sufficient against what could happen.”" In April
1622 the governor's council informed officials in England that
Newport News was one of the few plantations that were being
strengthened and safeguarded against Indian attack (Kingsbury
1906-1935:11:584;I111:612).

Daniel Gookin set sail for England in early summer, leaving
his Virginia plantation in the care of John Shipwarde (McIlwaine
1934:48). Upon reaching his destination, he outfitted a ship with
supplies and then secured a patent to his plantation.2 Daniel
Gookin called part of his Newport News landholdings Maries Mount
in honor of his wife, the former Mary Byrd (McIlwaine 1934:498;
Meyer and Dorman 1986:312). A June 1623 letter that George Sandys
dispatched to John Tradescant reveals that the Indians harassed
the settlers at Newport News. Sandys reported that upon arriving
at the Gookin plantation, he learned that "of all Mr. Gookin's men
wch he sent out last yeare we found but 7, beeing all kill'd by
th' Indians and his plantation ready to fall into decay"”
(Kingsbury 1906-1935:1IV:229).

In 1625 when a muster was made of the colony's inhabitants,
Daniel Gookin was credited with 20 servants who were living at
Newportes News, 18 of whom were male. All but one of the men in
this group were in their 20s. The two women who were present were
aged 21 and 44, Eight of the men servants who were living at
Newports Newes in 1625 had come to Virginia with Daniel Gookin in
1621. Three others had arrived in 1623 aboard the Providence, the
supply ship that Gookin dispatched from England. The settlers
living at Newports News resided in four houses. The presence of
three mounted ordinances suggests that they had built a fort.

They also had on hand 16 "peeces" (firearms), 200 1lbs. of shot,
20 armors and 20 swords. The Gookin plantation was relatively
well provisioned, for 30 barrels of corn were on hand, three
hogsheads of peas, and 2,000 fish (Meyer and Dorman 1986:50) .3

In May 1625, when a list was made of the tracts in Virginia that
had been patented and/or seated, 1,300 acres called Newports Newes
in the Corporation of Elizabeth City were described as planted
(Hotten 1969:273).4 It was the quantity of land that would have
been awarded for the transportation of 26 persons to the

2The Providence, the ship that transported supplies to Gookin's
plantation, also brought 40 more servants to work his land, plus
another 30 passengers. It had a lengthy and difficult ocean
crossing (Kingsbury 1906-1935:IV:105).

3Many of the inhabitants of Newport News in 1625 were described
as residents of Elizabeth City in the 1624 census (Hotten
1969:184).

4Lt. Richard Crouch's heir, Mary True (Tue) came into possession
of 150 acres at Newport News which she sold to Daniel Gookin in
1622 (Meyer and Dorman 1986:312).



colony.5

Daniel Gookin, upon returning to Ireland in 1622 never came
back to Virginia, but his son, Daniel II, was living at Newport
News in February 1, 1631, when he conveyed 50 acres of his
father's land to Thomas Addison, a former servant.® The elder
Gookin, earlier on, had conveyed 100 acres at Newport News to
Richard Griffin, another servant. Dutch sea captain, Peter
deVries on March 20, 1634 wrote that he had "anchored at evening
before Newport Snuw [sic], where lived a gentleman by the name of
Goegen." By 1643 Daniel Gookin II, whose religious views put him
at odds with the Established Church, had departed from Virginia
and relocated temporarily to Maryland; within a year he moved to
Massachusetts, where he settled in a Puritan community (McIlwaine
1934:498; Meyer and Dorman 1986:312-313).7

W. T. Stauffer, who traced the ownership of the land that in
1934 comprised the city of Newport News, concluded that Newport
News Creek formed the eastern boundary of the Gookin patent and
that Newport News' East End came from the patents of Bartholomew
Weathersby, Aron and Derrick Corsestan, and Robert and John
Saltford. He stated that Robert Saltford and his wife patented
land on the east side of Salfords (Saltfords, Salters) Creek in
1620 and resided near its mouth. To the Saltford couple's west
was the Weathersby tract; on the west side of Newport Creek were
the Corsestans. Like the Gookin patent, all of these tracts were
subdivided and sold several times before Newport News was created
(Stauffer 1934:333).

In March 1624 the burgesses convening at Jamestown agreed

SThe transportation of 80 persons in 1621 and 70 persons in 1622
would have entitled Daniel Gookin to 7,500 acres of land.

6In 1637 Daniel Gookins II claimed 2,500 acres of land on the
lower side of the James River, between the Nansemond and
Chuckatuck Rivers, on the basis of 50 headrights. The text of his
patent notes that the property had been awarded by means of a
court order dated February 25, 1634 (Nugent 1969-1979:1:78). He
was likely claiming more of the acreage to which his father was
entitled under the headright system.

7A patent allocated to William Cole in 1685 reveals that Daniel
Gookin II sold all but 250 acres of his father's patent called
Newport News to John Chandler. Chandler, in turmn, conveyed it to
Captain Benidict Stafford, from whom the property escheated to the
Crown. A survey of the Gookin tract revealed that it contained
1,431 acres (Nugent 1969-1979:11:291). After William Cole's
death, the Newport News tract (as Eggg_defined) passed to his
daughter, Susanna, the wife of Col. Dudley Digges. The property
was passed down through the Digges family. A map made in 1769, to
settle a boundary dispute, reveals that the Newport News tract
stretched from the Mariners Museum's property at Waters Creek
[Lake Maury] down to Newport News Point and extended east into
what was then Elizabeth City County (Stauffer 1934:205).



that monthly courts should be held in two of the colony's more
populous corporations that lay distant. At that time a local
judiciary system was established in Elizabeth City and Charles
City, where appointed commissioners could deliberate "suits and
controversies not exceeding the value of one hundred pounds of
tobacco and for punishing petty offenses" (Hening 1809-
1823:I:125). 1In 1627, officials at Jamestown decided that in the
event of a foreign invasion, all of the provisions in Elizabeth
City, along with those persons deemed unfit for military service,
were to be withdrawn to Newport News, from which point they could
be removed to Samuel Mathews' plantation (Denbigh or Mathews
Manor), a position of greater safety (McIlwaine 1934:135). That
eight men were sent to the House of Burgesses in 1629 as delegates
representing what became modern Newport News, reveals that the
area's population had grown significantly. The Mulberry Island
community was represented by two men, the Warwick River
plantations by four men, and the Nutmeg Quarter area by two men
(Hening 1809-1823:I:xix,139).8 Concurrent with community growth
came the need for parish churches to fulfill local residents'
religious needs. As the Church of England was Virginia's state
church, attendance and support of one's parish was compulsory. By
1627 there was a church on Mulberry Island in what was known as
Stanley Hundred or Mulberry Island Parish. In 1629, when the Rev.
George Keith (Skiff) arrived im the colony, the territory between
Maries Mount and Waters Creek was formed into a new parish, an
entitg later known as the Nutmeg Quarter Parish (Cocke 1964:157-
164).

In 1634 Virginia officials, acting with the authority of the
English government, divided the colony into eight shires, in order
to establish "more convenient government" and seats for local
courts. One of these original jurisdictions was the Warwick River
Shire. The "countie of Warricke River," which extended from
Skiffs Creek and Mulberry Island to Maries Mount, had 811
inhabitants, comprising the third most populous shire in the
colony (Anonymous 1871:94). An act was passed by Virginia's Grand
Assembly in March 1643 whereby the name of Warwick River County
was shortened to Warwick County. At that time, the county's
boundaries were reaffirmed and described more fully. They
extended

. « . from the mouth of Keiths [Skiffs] Creek up along the
lower side of the head of it, including all the dividend of
Thomas Harwood . . . with Mulberry Island, Stanley Hundred,
Warwick River, with all the land belonging to the Mills and so
on down to Newport's News [Hening 1809-1823:1:249-250].

During this period, land~hungry Virginia planters commenced

8However, commencing in 1660 each county was authorized to send
only two delegates (Hening 1809-1823:I:xix,139).

9In 1656 Nutmeg Quarter Parish was consolidated with Denbigh
Parish, which lay immediately upstream. In 1725 the Mulberry
Island and Denbigh parishes were merged to form Warwick Parish.
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advancing into the colony's interior in search of new acreage upon
which they could cultivate tobacco, Virginia's principal crop.
Thanks to the headright system, they could pay for the
transportation of indentured servants to Virginia, then claim 50
acres for every person they transported. In this manner,
Virginia's more successful planters were able to substantially
increase their landholdings while simultaneously fulfilling their
need for labor. Eventually, a shortage of workers and the
importation of blacks culminated in the blacks' enslavement and
Virginia planters' reliance upon slave labor.

The Mid-To-Late Seventeenth Century

During the mid-seventeenth century, Virginia's social
spectrum became increasingly polarized. At its top were those who
held the colony's highest official posts. At the bottom were the
smallest planters and landless freedmen (former indentured
servants), plus minorities such as blacks and Indians. Somewhere
in between were the middling planters whose landholdings were of
modest but substantial size. Although the colony's elite often
quarreled among themselves over trade and authority, they
solidified their positions as Virginia's recognized leaders, with
the result that the social order increasingly became more rigid.
Political authority was (to a large extent) monopolized by the
planter aristocracy, who had amassed fortunes in land and servants
and added to their wealth through officeholding. These same men
forged family alliances that furthered their ambitions and
perpetuated their political careers (Billings et al 1983:55-59).

On June 10, 1667, a Dutch fleet of five ships, flying English
colors, sailed into Hampton Roads. There, they made a surprise
attack upon Virginia's tobacco fleet, which ships were heavy laden
and lay at anchor near Newport News Point. Learning that the
guard ship Elizabeth was ill-prepared to fight, the Dutch captured
all 20 of the Engllsh merchantmen. During the five or six days
the Dutch rode in Virginia waters, the colony's militia prevented
them from sending landing parties ashore. However, the militia
men were unable to protect the tobacco ships or to strike a
definitive blow against the colony's invaders. 1In 1673 Virginia's
tobacco fleet again fell prey to the Dutch (Middleton 1953:337-
339; Rouse 1969:14).

A map prepared by Augustine Herrmann (1673) in 1670 indicates
that plantations were then scattered along the banks of the
colony's four major rivers. Although Herrmann's rendering was a
somewhat schematic representation, the settlement pattern he
indicated (i.e., that Virginia planters tended to build their
seats along river frontage and on the banks of navigable streams)
is corroborated by the works of other early cartographers (Lamb
1676; Henry 1770; Fry and Jefferson 1775) and confirmed by the
presence of archaeological deposits and historic structures that
still survive. The Herrmann map, which indicates that colonists
by 1670 were settled thickly along the banks of the James River,
the Warwick River and their tributaries, prominently identifies
Newport News Point (Figure 3:2). Ferries connected overland

11
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routes, facilitating development and commerce.

During the mid-1670s, when Virginia was caught up in the
conflict known as Bacon's Rebellion, part of the territofy on the
north side of Hampton Roads was in the hands of Nathaniel Bacon's
supporters. On September 36, 1676 Governor William Berkeley came
down to Newport News, where he mustered his men and met with the
captain of a royal naval vessel that was anchored off Newport News
Point. Two days later, men from that vessel clashed with Bacon's
followers at Newport News. On October 15th another hostile
encounter occurred at Newport News, when Bacon's partisans (who
were under the immediate command of a Mr. Hunt) engaged the king's
men (B.P.R.0.:C.0. 1/37 £181).

In June 1680, when Virginia's House of Burgesses passed the
first of three acts establishing port towns at specific locations
within the colony, one of the town sites selected was on the
eastern bank of the Warwick River at Deep Creek. Warwick Town,
like the colony's other planned towns, was to be 50 acres in size.
The designated tracts were laid off and surveyed into lots soon
after the enabling legislation was passed and incentives were
offered to stimulate urban development (Hening 1809-1823:II1:471-
478; Reps 1972:67). Although the 1680 town act eventually was
suspended, similar legislation was passed in 1691 and again,
Warwick Town was designated an official port. Although some of
the towns created in 1680 had become well established and others
had not, the text of the 1691 act reveals that Warwick Town had
"several houses there built, together with a brick court house and
prison" (Hening 1809-1823:11:508;I11:60). Prior to the
construction of a courthouse at Warwick Town, Warwick County's
court justices convened at each other's homes. Court sometimes
was held at the Denbigh Plantation of Captain Samuel Mathews and
Miles Cary II of Richneck frequently hosted the county court. He
maintained the clerk's office at Richneck for many years and
according to local tradition, the county commissioners in warm
weather met under the shade of a large elm tree that eventually
became known as the Courthouse Elm (Jester 1961:28; Harrison
1919:96).

The Eighteenth and Early-To-Mid Nineteenth Centuries

The James-York peninsula, despite urban development at a few
sites, remained predominantly rural throughout the eighteenth and
early-to-mid nineteenth centuries. Historical maps reveal that
major plantation seats lined the shores of the James River, where
the more affluent planters had direct access to commercial
shipping (Fry and Jefferson 1755) (Figure 3:3). 1Inland, large
plantations were interspersed with small and middling farmsteads
and local service centers. Toward the close of the eighteenth
century the development and improvement of inland transportation
corridors opened the peninsula's interior to more widely dispersed
settlement (Virginia Department of Historic Resources 1986).
Warwick County gradually became more densely populated, especially
the area near Mulberry Island.

12
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During the American Revolution a party of British soldiers
landed near Newport News Point and marched up to the vicinity of
Waters Creek. There, they came under attack by a party of
Virginia militia, who routed them successfully. After the
Revolution, the James-York peninsula recovered slowly from the
effects of war. The relocation of Virginia's capital from
Williamsburg to Richmond accelerated the area's decline as
emphasis shifted inland toward the Piedmont; concurrent with the
decline of the region's political influence came loss of both
population and wealth. Although the local economy remained
viable, Warwick County's soil, like that of other parts of
Tidewater Virginia, was depleted, lessening its productivity
(Colonial Williamsburg Foundation 1985:8ection XII; Rouse
1969:14).

Maps prepared by Berthier (1781), Bishop James Madison (1807)
and Herman Boye (1826) reveal that during the late eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries, a major road extended up the peninsula
from Hampton Roads, linking rural landowners with the area's
social and commercial centers and providing them with access to
the seacoast (Figures 3:4 and 3:5). Shown prominently on Boye's
map was the Warwick County Courthouse, near Stony Creek, to which
the county seat moved in 1809- 1810.1

Between 1790 and 1890, there was a general decline in the
population of the James-York peninsula, although the situation
began to stabilize toward the middle of the nineteenth century.
Land tax records demonstrate that as time went on, the ranks of
the middling farmer declined and the number of small landowners
increased; meanwhile, the position of the large landowner remained
stable (Warwick County Land Tax Lists 1782-1861; Colonial
Williamsburg Foundation 1985:Section XII).

During the mid-nineteenth century, improved agricultural
techniques and reduction in farm size led to a revitalization of
the region's agricultural economy. Whereas the cultivation of
tobacco had once played a vital role in Tidewater economics,
emphasis shifted to the production of grain crops. By the time of
the Civil War, a mixed crop system of agriculture predominated.
More sophisticated farming techniques, designed to restore soil
fertility, led to improved production and increased land values
(Colonial Williamsburg Foundation 1985:Section XII). That the
inhabitants of the Newport News Point area were considered a
community is evidenced by the establishment of the New Port News
Post Office at Bennett's Wharf in 1851. Although the facility was
discontinued in 1854, it was reactivated approximately 30 years
later (Jester 1961:184).

The Civil War
Early in the Civil War, the James-York peninsula was caught

10 The o0ld courthouse at Warwick Town was shown by Madison
(1807).
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up in the conflict, for Fort Monroe (at its easternmost tip) was a
Union stronghold (Tyler 1922:51-52). On May 25, 1861, shortly
after his arrival at Fort Monroe, Union General Benjamin F. Butler
made a visit to Newport News Point. Later, he noted that "We
landed at a little Jetty at Newport News and climbed the banks.
Here there burst upon my sight one of the finest scenes I ever
beheld. At the point nearest the river was a farmer's house
shaded by some very fine elms, and a field of some sixty or
seventy acres, a perfect plain, covered with a beautiful growth of
spring wheat" (Rouse 1977:41). Butler quickly dispatched
regiments from New York and Massachusetts to occupy and fortify
that area. By June, columbiads were sent from Fort Monroe were
erected at Newport News Point, earthworks were thrown up, and a
military complex named Camp Butler had been built. Wharves that
had been constructed by Robert Bennett and Parker West were
confiscated, as was a storage building which was put to use as a
commissary.11 Three large wells were dug, from which water was
pumped to naval vessels. Later, a better landing pier, additional
warehouses, and other buildings were constructed at Camp Butler
(Jester 1961:87-88; Rouse 1977:45) (Figures 3:6 and 3:7) (see
ahead).

During mid-summer 1861, General Robert E. Lee visited the
James-York peninsula, inspecting the batteries on the York and
James Rivers and formulating plans for the region's defense.
Fortifications were to be constructed at Mulberry Island and
across the James at Day's Point, to prevent Union naval vessels
from circumventing any defenses the Confederates might build
across the peninsula. Late in the summer, the Confederacy's
forces in Virginia were concentrated in the northern part of the
state, which left the peninsula vulnerable to a potential Union
Army offensive. Confederate General John B. Magruder, in an
attempt to retard the Union Army advance that he considered
inevitable, constructed three roughly parallel lines of defemnsive
works that took maximum advantage of the area's topography. The
fortifications that Magruder's men built slowed the invading
army's progress considerably. A Union engineer later wrote that
"these groups of fieldworks were connected by rifle trenches or
parapets for early the whole distance . . . every kind of
obstruction which the country affords, such as abatis, marsh,
inundation, etc. was skillfully used" (Davis 1967:30). Around
March 1st, Magruder abandoned his easternmost defences and fell
back to his second line, which was located along the Warwick
River, for some of his detachments were dispatched to Suffolk and
Portsmouth (Webb 1881:49-50). Off shore from Newport News, the

s ot W e e i

steam frigate, Merrimack) rammed and sank the U. S. frigate

11According to George Benjamin West (Parker West's son), the
family's wharf was at the foot of what became 18th Street, whereas
Bennett's wharf, which was rented by Merriam and Gill, was just
above Pier No. 5. Robert Bennett had had a wharf and storehouse
at this location since ca. 1851 (Rouse 1977:45).
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Figure 3:6 Newport News, now in possession . . . of
Federal Troops (Leslie's Illustrated News in Rouse

1977:32).




Figure 3:7 Untitled print of Newport News Point
(Leslie's Illustrated News in Rouse 1977:42).




Cumberland on March 8, 1862. The Virginia also attacked and

destroyed the U. 8. S. Congress off Salters Creek. The following

day, the celebrated duel between the Virginia (Merrimack) and U.
S. S. Monitor, which ended in a draw, took place in Hampton Roads

(Jester 1961:185).

On April 4, 1862 Union General George B. McClellan set out
from Fort Monroe, initiating what became known as the Peminsular
Campaign. He was misinformed about the terrain that lay ahead and
was unaware that his army overwhelmingly outnumbered the
Confederates. McClellan intended to move his troops forward in
two columns: one that was to march toward Yorktown and another
that was to parallel the banks of the James River, moving toward
Williamsburg. McClellan's men soon encountered the lines of
defense that the Confederates had built across the peninsula.

They also became bogged down in muddy roads, which heavy rains had
rendered nearly impassable. After a difficult march, they came to
rest on the east side of the Warwick River, opposite the
Confederates' second line of defenses. On May 2, General Joseph
P. Johnston, who had assumed the Confederate command and was wary
of facing an army that outnumbered him 3 to 1, ordered the
withdrawal of his entire line, which was accomplished under the
cover of darkness. The Confederates then fell back to their third
line of defense, at Williamsburg. A short time later, they
commenced their slow retreat up the peninsula. Union General
McClellan, meanwhile, began lengthy preparations for a siege upon
Yorktown. His men followed the retreating Confederates up the
peninsula as far as the outskirts of Richmond, where they
encountered the strong defensive lines that rimmed the city.
McClellan and his men withdrew (USATCFE 1977; Davis 1967:30-46;
Webb 1881:43-45).

Union Occupation

During this period many of the lower peninsula's inhabitants
also departed from the area. With this exodus, the abandoned
countryside fell into the hands of the Union Army. Runaway
slaves or "contrabands" flocked to Hampton Roads and the vicinity
of Fort Monroe, seeking refuge. This influx of people, many of
whom came with only the clothes on their backs and a few items
they could carry, posed a serious health and welfare problem for
Union officials who were ill-prepared to furnish them with food,
shelter, and employment. The task of providing for these former
slaves was turned over to the Bureau of Refugees. Records of this
little known branch of government, which have received little
scholarly attention, reveal much about life on the lower peninsula
during the Reconstruction period. One means used by federal
officials in providing food and shelter for black refugees was to
allocate them private property that had been abandoned by its
owners or confiscated for back taxes. Because a mass exodus of
white citizens occurred shortly after the war reached the lower
peninsula, much vacant land was available. Records of the Bureau
of Refugees demonstrate that many lots in the town of Hampton were
occupied by blacks who constructed shanties from the rubble of
buildings that had been burned during the war. Abandoned farm
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land typically was subdivided into small parcels that were leased
to refugees who paid their rent in crop-shares (Bureau of Refugees
1862-1866). Sometimes, Union officers simply confiscated a
landowner's property and issued it to black refugees. It is
likely that the buildings on abandoned or confiscated farms
sustained considerable damage, for they would have been subjected
to scavenging as refugees sought boards, nails and other materials
for use in constructing shanties. A map of the lower peninsula's
so-called Government Farms reveals that nearly 40 properties
within the boundaries of modern Newport News were used by black
refugees. Within the study area, portions of the Smith, Parish,
and Marrow plantations at the mouth of Salters Creek, were put to
this use, as was the Fitchett property (Freedmen's Bureau 1866)
(Figure 3:8).

In 1865, when A. D. Bache (1865) prepared a highly sensitive
topographic map of Newport News Point and vicinity, he depicted
and identified a number of important cultural resources. Near the
northernmost limits of the map was Fort Ericecson, a Union Army
post.12 Farms were scattered along the banks of the James River
and Hampton Roads. Inland, to the east of the main road
paralleling the river bank, the countryside was wooded. Farms
also were situated near the headwaters of Newport News Creek and
at the mouth of Salters Creek. Camp Butler, the Union Army
installation that was built in 1861, encompassed a massive expanse
of waterfront land and extended inland to the main road.l3 Within
its confines, a series of piers protruded into the James River.
O0ff shore, Bache identified the wreck of the Florida, a captured
Confederate vessel that was rammed and sunk in the James River on
November 28, 1864 (Bache 1865) (Figures 3:11 through 3:14).1

12%6rt Ericcson appears to have been located in the vicinity of
the Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company's facilities.
George Benjamin West, who chronicled the years that Newport News
was in the occupation of the Union Army, recalled that "Mr. Robert
Lee, wife and some small children lived about 42nd Street near
Washington Avenue; a fort was built around his house and there was
no sign of it when the war closed" (Rouse 1977:44). VWest's
statement is corroborated by the maps of Lindenkohl (1862), who
identified the fort site, and Humphreys (1862) who showed R. Lee's
home at an analygous location (Figures 3:9 and 3:10).

13According to George Benjamin West's account, Camp Butler's
earthworks extended in a semi-circle from the foot of Pier No. 2
to Pier No. 8 or 9, at 18th Street. He also noted that in the
vicinity of 18th Street there was '"quite a strong earthwork on
which were mounted afterwards some heavy guns" (Rouse 1977:46).
West's projected location of Camp Butler is supported by the Bache
(1865) and Sanborn (1907) maps.

l47n 1982 the wreck of the Florida was added to the Virginia

Landmarks Register. It also was declared eligible for the
National Register of Historic Places.
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Figure 3:8 Map Showing Position of Government Farms [for
Freedmen in Southeastern Virginia] (Freedmen's Bureau
1866)
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Figure 3:9 A Military Map of SE Virginia (Lindenko
1862).
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Figure 3:10 Map of Southeast Virginia (Humphreys 1862).
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After the surrender at Appomattox, Camp Butler was designated
a detention facility for Confederate prisoners-of-war. Inmates
began arriving immediately after the surrender and were detained
there during May and June 1865. By early July most of the
prisoners had been sent home and on August 2, 1865 Camp Butler was
deactivated. An estimated 3,434 prisoners were detained at Camp
Butler simultaneously (Jester 1961:98).

The Reconstruction Era

After the fall of the Confederacy, the peninsula's economy
recovered slowly from the effects of war. Virginia's agricultural
system underwent immense changes in both productivity and the
types of crops raised. The loss of slave labor, upon which an
estimated half of local farmers had depended, and the reduction in
farm families' work force, thanks to the fact that a large
proportion of Virginia's white male population had been killed or
disabled in the war, resulted in a sharp decline in the number of
acres tilled. Agricultural census records reveal that throughout
Tidewater, farm families shifted to less labor-intensive crops
(such as growing fruit and vegetables for urban markets or
becoming more heavily involved in animal husbandry (McCartney
1987). Many farms were operated by sharecroppers, some of whom
were blacks who chose to remain near their former homes after the
war. Agricultural productivity dropped by more than half and farm
size declined by a third to a fifth, as large tracts were
subdivided when impoverished landowners were forced to sell out.
Later, the coming of the railroad stimulated the peninsula's
economy, attracting industry and providing new and expanded
markets for local products (Colonial Williamsburg Foundation
1985:Section XII).

As early as 1866-1867 the idea of opening the lower pemninsula
to rail travel attracted popular interest. The state legislatures
of both Virginia and West Virginia approved the construction of a
rail line from "the waters of the Chesapeake to the Ohio River,"
what became known as the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad (Jester
1961:105; Rouse 1977:49). Cartographer Jed Hotchkiss prepared a
map of the lower peninsula that showed the projected right-of-way
of what he called the "proposed Richmond and Newport News
Railroad." He also depicted many of the area's minor roadways and
identified the sites of Fort Ericcson and Camp Butler (Hotchkiss
1867) (Figure 3:15).

It was during the mid-to~late 1860s that Collis P.
Huntington, a wealthy entrepreneur who had made his fortune
selling mining gear during the California Gold Rush and then
became a great railroad builder in the West, sent his agents to
the James-York peninsula to buy up land that lay in the path of
the proposed railroad. It is believed that they acquired anmn
estimated 17,000 acres. In 1837 Huntington had visited the lower
peninsula as a 16 year old pedlar and he remembered thinking that
it was an ideal site for enterprise. Warwick County Deed Books
demonstrate that by 1866, Calvin Giddings (one of Huntington's
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agents) was purchasing farmland that spanned the proposed
railroad's right-of-way. He bought the farms of William Lee (270
acres to the north of 62nd Street) and Armistead Haughton (136
acres between 56th and 60th Streets) and in 1867 acquired the
Wilbern (between 27th and 32nd Streets) and Briarfield (900 acres
between 52nd and 56th Streets) tracts. Between 1873 and 1881 the
farms of Thomas W. Lee (240 acres between 44th and 53rd Streets),
Robert H. Lee (215 acres between 36th and 44th Streets), the
Hawkins' (323 acres encompassing the James River's shore line
between 36th Street and a ravine between 31st and 32nd Streets)
and William Washington Burk (155 acres on the James, between 18th
Street and the middle of the block between 26th and 27th Streets)
were purchased by Huntington's representatives. A map of part of
Elizabeth City with Newport News Point reveals that in 1881 the
area was sparsely populated (Jester 1961:81,105-107; Warwick
County Deed Book 1:13-14,551-553,555; Rouse 1986:34,72) (Figure
3:16).

In 1869, Collis P. Huntington formed a syndicate that
purchased a controlling interest in the Chesapeake and Ohio
Railroad. A committee of C & O investors considered several
locations as potential sites for the railroad's eastern terminus.
Ultimately, however, they concluded that Huntington's proposal was
the most feasible. The C & O, having extended its tracks westward
to the Ohio River, commenced implementing Huntington's plan to
construct a railroad line to Hampton Roads. Land negotiations
sometimes were impeded by property owners and real estate
speculators who held out for a higher price (Jester 1961:108-110;
Rouse 1986:50-51).15

The 1870s and 80s: Huntington's Plans Take Shape
The Railroad and Piers
In 1873, while the C & O's Hampton Roads right-of-way was
being surveyed, a nationwide economic recession brought the
project to a halt. Later, the C & O reorganized and Virginia's
General Assembly went on record as endorsing the proposed
railroad. At that point, the last leg of the rail line's right-
of-way was laid out.l6 By February 1881, construction was
underway. Contemporary news accounts indicate that an estimated
2,200 hands were employed in building the C & O rail lime to

150ne landowner whose property was critical to the implementation
of Collis P. Huntington's plan was George Benjamin West, son and
heir of Parker West whose 243 acre farm straddled Newport News
Point and bordered Newport News Creek. Although West was
enthusiastic about the coming of the railroad, he was intent upon
retaining part of his property. Huntington, who informed West
that he was an impediment to his plans, insisted on buying him
out. West, in turn, viewed Huntington as wealthy, powerful and
unscrupulous (Rouse 1977:132-133).

l6Elizabeth City County ceded a small amount of land to Warwick

County so that the railroad's right-of-way would be in only one
political jurisdiction (Rouse 1977:51).
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Hampton Roads. One group of workers headed east from Richmond,
whereas another made its way westward from the tip of the
peninsula. Sometimes, progress was interrupted by labor
disputes. On October 16, 1881 Major J. J. Gordon drove a golden
spike in the Magazine field in Williamsburg, signifying that the
construction of the railroad had reached completion. A temporary
spur line was built from Lee Hall to Yorktown, so that officials
from the nation's capital could celebrate the centennial of
Cornwallis' surrender at Yorktown. Commencing May 1, 1882 the C &
O began operating through trains to Newport News. In 1891 a spur
line was extended from Newport News to Fort Monroe (Jester
1961:108-110; Rouse 1986:50-51).

Collis P. Huntington's belief that Newport News would develop
into a major seaport is evidenced by his agents' authorization to
purchase not only acreage that lay in the path of the C & O's
proposed right-of-way, but also land that was peripheral to it.
These men were to acquire all "necessary land and waterfront and
riparian rights and to erect thereon . . . wharves, shops, round-
houses, warehouses, elevators, coal tipples, timber yards, cotton
and tobacco presses" (Jester 1961:108-110; Rouse 1986:51-52).
Huntington's piers, wharves, and terminal buildings were under
construction by late 1880 and by 1882 were completed.17 A coal
pier was built measuring 825 feet long and 50 feet wide; its
twelve chutes could service six vessels simultaneously. A grain
elevator with a 1,500,000 bushel capacity was erected in 1882, in
anticipation of exporting grain from the Midwest. The Virginia
Navigation Company's paddle-steamer, Ariel, began making stops at
Newport News in 1882. By 1883 ferry and steamship companies
brought businessmen and vacationers to Newport News' passenger
piers. The steamboat, Louise, was acquired by the C & O in 1886;
it made regular passenger runs between Norfolk and Newport News
until 1902. The piers at Newport News were shown on a map of the
vicinity of Norfolk County that was made in 1887 (Sykes and
Gwathmey 1887) (Figure 3:17). In time, a steamship line connected
Newport News with Liverpool, England, alluding to the new
seaport's prospects for the development of internmational commerce
(Newport News Public Library Systems 1982:3-5; Jester 1961:110-
113,187; Rouse 1986:51-53).

The Shipyard

In 1886 the Chesapeake Dry Dock and Construction Company was
chartered for the purpose of repairing and maintaining ships, for
the growing number of naval vessels that plied the waters of
Hampton Roads provided a readymade market for such services.
Literally hundreds of able-bodied men, both black and white, were
available for employment and needed only to be traimed. Collis P.
Huntington later said that "It was my original intention to start

17George Benjamin West wrote that wharf-building on his property
commenced in December 1880, when Walter Post arrived with a crew
of laborers. He stated that the workers built shanties on his
beach, stacked pilings and lumber on his waterfront property, and
freely used the water from his well (Rouse 1977:133).
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a shipyard and plant in the best location in the world, and I have
succeeded in my purpose. It is right at the gateway of the sea.
There is never any ice in winter and it is never so cold but you
can hammer metal out of doors." A tract of land that fronted
along the James River and Washington Avenue was selected as the
site of the shipyard. 1Its dry dock was completed in April 1889,
at which time the U. S. monitor, Puritan, docked there. Within
eight months, it was decided not only to repair vessels but also
to build them. Therefore on February 17, 1890 the Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company was chartered. The first vessel
built on the premises was the tug Dorothy, which was launched on
December 17, 1890 (Jester 1961:119-121,187).

The Town of Newport News

As soon as the construction of C & O's terminus at Newport
News was assured, plans were made to establish a town there. On
October 19, 1880, the 0ld Dominion Land Company was organized for
the purpose of managing and developing take over the excess
property and land options that Collis P. Huntington held on behalf
of the C & O. Eugene E. McLean of New York, the 0l1ld Dominion Land
Company's engineer, made a map of the layout of the town of
Newport News. It was oriented according to a grid plan, with
numbered streets that ran east and west and avenues that extended
north and south. Lots measured 25 ft. wide and 100 ft. deep. 1In
anticipation of the Yorktown Centennial celebration, two principal
avenues were named for prominent Revolutionary War generals,
Washington and Lafayette (McLean 1881) (Figure 3:18). When the
fledgling town commenced developing, buildings were erected
between 18th and 28th Streets, from which point growth fanned out
both the east and north. Below 22nd Street were the C & 0O docks
and yards. West Avenue, which bordered the James River, was
considered Newport News' choice residential area. The town's
black population was concentrated to the south of 18th Street and
east of the C & O right-of-way. Two such ethnic neighborhoods
were Dawson City and Bloodfield. ©Newport News' first hotel, the
Lafayette House, which was situated at the cormner of Lafa¥ette
Avenue and 27th Street, opened for business in June 1881. 8
Newport News' second hotel was the Warwick, which by 1882 was
under construction (Newport News Public Library System 1982:5-9;
Rouse 1969:41; Jester 1961:114-115).

The 01d Dominion Land Company began vigorously promoting the
development of Newport News. In order to make the town appealing,
they donated land upon which a variety of community facilities
were built, including the Union Chapel,19 the 1lst National Bank

18The Lafayette House later served as the city's first hospital,
Newport News General. Eventually the building was converted to a
bogs military school (Jester 1961:186).

19The first religious services for Newport News' white population
were held at what was called the Union Chapel. 1In 1889 it was
located on 28th Street, near West Avenue. By 1891 the chapel site
had been redeveloped. The Union Chapel was the "mother church" of
four downtown congregations of worshipers (Sanborn 1889; Jester
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of Newport News, the county courthouse and town hall, schools, 20
libraries, parks, and other projects that served the public good.
Six undeveloped blocks along the James, between 24th and 30th
Streets, were set aside for a public recreation area known as
Casino Park., During the late 1880s the 0l1d Dominion Land Company
organized the Newport News Light and Water Company to bring modern
utilities to the town's population. Water was transported to
Newport News from a pumping station that was 18 miles away at Lee
Hall Lake, by means of a wooden conduit. Newport News' first
hometown newspaper, The Wedge, published its first edition on
April 21, 1883 (Jdester 1961:121,186-187; Newport News Public
Library System 1982:5-9,16).

The Local Population

Mid-to-late nineteenth century census records demonstrate
that the establishment of a town at Newport News Point changed
Warwick County's demographic make-up dramatically. In 1840, when
census~takers first classified heads of household according to
whether they were employed in agriculture, navigation or a
profession, 439 individuals (or 98 percent of the county's heads
of household) were engaged in agriculture; eight individuals (less
than 2 percent) were involved in navigation whereas one was in a
profession. 1In 1850, when specific occupations were listed by the
name of every individual tabulated, Warwick County's population
included farmers and overseers, carpenters, merchants,
wheelwrights, millers, sea captains and sailors, clergymen,
Jumberers, laborers and bricklayers. By 1860 the county had
farmers and overseers, merchants, laborers, sailors, teamsters,
laundresses, ditch-diggers, plus a weaver, a tailor, a carpenter,
an engineer, a plasterer, a constable, a blacksmith and a
coalbearer (Warwick County Census 1840-1860).

In 1870, the occupations of Warwick County's citizens was
listed, along with their ethnic affiliation and the political
district in which they lived. Within Newport District, which
included the vicinity of Newport News Point, were 50 farmers, 117
laborers, 16 domestic servants, and 7 house carpenters; both
blacks and whites worked in these occupations. Also present were
4 retail grocers, 3 store clerks, 2 ship carpenters, a lumber
manufacturer, 2 machinists, 2 brickmasons, a wheelwright, a
retired lawyer, and an oysterman, all of whom were white. The
county clerk of court, Samuel T. Jones of the Newport District,
was a mulatto. No one of foreign birth was them living in Newport
District (Warwick County Census 1870).

The 1880 census reveals that men and women had moved to the
Newport District from foreign countries and several states,
presumably so that they could take advantage of the area's growing
array of economic opportunities. Workers from England, Ireland
and Scotland and various parts of the United States (including

1961:186).
20The city's first black school was on 22nd Street; its first
white school was on 28th Street (Jester 1961:86).
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Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Rhode Island and Maryland) were living
in the area. All four of Newport District's retail grocers were
from Northern states and its one and only merchant was British,
Sailors, who were both black and white, were natives of Virginia,
Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Ireland. Living in Newport District
in 1880 were 122 farmers, 5 seamen, 39 sailors, a merchant, 42
laborers, a miller, 8 carpenters, 4 retail grocers, a maid
servant, a sawyer and a gentleman. Within the district were 209
households that occupied 210 dwellings (Warwick County Census
1880).

An idea of Newport News' appearance during its earliest years
can be gleaned from the recollections of John Swinerton, a
Northerner who in 1883 moved to town to manage the Lafayette House
and then the Hotel Warwick. Swinerton stated that most of the
town's 1,000 inhabitants were living in the vicinity of 18th
Street and the River (Beach) Road, the area that later was known
as Hell's Half-Acre. 1In 1883 only nine buildings had been erected
on the high ground to the west of 24th Street and the Hotel
Warwick. The Union Chapel stood on 28th Street near West Avenue.
Nearby were two saloons, the O0ld Dominion Land Company's office,
and a few small stores. The o0ld Hawkins farmhouse overlooked the
James River at 35th Street. Newport News in 1883 had neither
clergy nor lawyers and only two doctors, who (according to
Swinerton) kept busy "cutting off legs of Negroes who were injured
working on the piers or railroad." There were no white schools
(and very few white children); a school for black children was
kept at an old house across the C & O tracks, on 28th Street. A
boardwalk extended up 27th Street to Washington Avenue and another
one went to 28th Street and the C & O crossing. Newport News'
first house-of-worship was a black Baptist church that had been
built in 1864 and in 1880 stood in the path of the C & O's
intended right-of-way. For that reason, the 0ld Dominion Land
Company provided the congregation with a site at 23rd and
Jefferson, to which their frame church was moved.21 During the
early 1880s congregations of Episcopalians, Catholics, Methodists,
and Baptists organized for worship; in the next decade, the
Christians and Lutherans also became established (Rouse 1986:74-
76).

By 1888 the town had grown so rapidly that it had become the
epicenter of the county's population, giving rise to gopular
pressure to relocate the county seat to Newport News. 2 0on March
2, 1888 the General Assembly authorized a popular referendum to
determine whether the county seat should be moved. The
legislators stipulated that if the town of Newport News were to
become an incorporated city, it was to reimburse the county for

211n 1897 a tall-steepled brick church was built to replace the
old frame structure. The Baptists worshiped in the newer church
from 1897 to 1972, at which time the structure was razed (Rouse
1969:42).
2This sentiment occurred despite the fact that a new county
courthouse had been built at Denbigh in 1885.
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the cost of constructing the new buildings. Voters favored
relocating the county seat to Newport News, to which it moved in
1892. 1In 1896 when Newport News was chartered as an independent
city, it kept the courthouse building and the seat of Warwick
County returned to the Denbigh area (Warwick County Orders 1881~
1886:251; General Assembly of Virginia 1888:465-466; Jester
1961:30).

The Evolution of Newport News' Built Environment

The developmental pattern that Newport News followed was
defined by physical geography and certain environmentally-altering
features that were superimposed by man. The James River and
Hampton Roads formed natural boundaries on the west and south,
whereas the main line of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad bisected
the town on a roughly north-south axis before making an abrupt
westward turn at 2lst Street as it headed toward piers that
protruded into the James River. Between the west side of the C &
O tracks and the river was a strip of land that was four or five
blocks wide. Below 21lst Street and the curve in the railroad line
were several streets that lay in close proximity to Newport News
Point., As the population of Newport News increased, residential
development moved northward, toward the shipyard facilities that
Collis P. Huntington constructed. Homes also were built on the
east side of the C & O main line, an area that was somewhat
removed from the main part of town. It was not until the turn of
the twentieth century, when bridges were built across the C & O
tracks, that the east side of town (the so-called East End) became
populous. In time, development on the east side of the tracks
moved both north and east. In 1890 Newport News' first public
transportation system, the Newport News Street Railway Company,
was incorporated. Its early horse-drawn vehicles were in time
replaced by electric trolley cars. By 1895 electric cars plied a
route between the shipyard and the C & O terminal. The street
railway's tracks were shown on a map of the city that was prepared
in 1891 (Jester 1961:122,187; Braxtonm 1891).

In 1890, when the C & O built a spur line that extended in an
easterly direction, approximately paralleling 37th Street, Newport
News was divided into four sectors that were of unequal size.

Maps of Newport News, which commenced being prepared by employees
of the Sanborn Insurance Company in 1885, provide a comnsiderable
amount of insight into how a small town evolved into a city. As
Newport News' initial industrial development occurred along the
waterfront, the earliest dated Sanborn maps depicted only that
portion of the town that abutted the piers on the west side of the
C & O main line. As Newport News expanded, the Sanborn Insurance
Company updated its maps at relatively frequent intervals,
providing broader coverage to the outlying areas that were
undergoing development. The company's maps of Newport News date
to 1885, 1889, 1891, 1893, 1897, 1899, 1903, 1907, 1913, 1919,
1926, and 1950. For the sake of continuity, data extracted from
the Sanborn Insurance Company's maps is presented in chronological
sequemnce.
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Newport News in the Mid-To-Late 1880s
The 1885 Sanborn Map
In 1885, when representatives of the Sanborn Insurance
Company first mapped Newport News, they included only that portion
of town which lay close to Newport News Point, despite the fact
that much of the town had been laid out into streets and blocks.
Three piers, to which the C & O tracks extended, protruded into
the river to the west and north of Newport News Point; Pier No. 1
was roofed, Close at hand were ice houses and a floating bridge.
Pier No. 2 was located near the C & O grain elevator, which had a
1,600,000 bu. capacity. A small lane identified as Beach Road
paralleled the shore line of the James River. To the southeast of
Pier No. 1, A and B Streets (the forerunners of 18th and 17th
Streets) extended toward the waterfront. At the foot of A Street
were an ice house, a butcher shop, a grocery store and a ships
store. The shanties that lined the north side of A Street were
interspersed with eateries, a cobbler's shop, and an occasional
dwelling. Commercial development was more intense on B Street,
which had four groceries, a general store, two saloons, a
cobbler's shop, a bakery, and a hotel called the New York House.
Shanties and sheds were thinly scattered throughout the area.
Further up the James River was the proposed site of a lumber pier
and pumping station, later designated Pier No. 3. To its north
were the C & O Railroad's coal tressel, coal storage pockets,
offices, and other facilities that were related to the coal export
business. A line of one-story tenements, occupied by blacks, was
situated on the south side of the railroad tracks. On the north
side of the point where the C & O main line turned toward the
James River, the property of the 0ld Dominion Land Company had
been laid out into streets and blocks. At the cormer of 24th
Street and West Avenue was the Hotel Warwick, a four-story frame
building. To the north of the hotel and abutting West Street,
were a drugstore, the town's post office, the custom house, and
the offices of the 0ld Dominion Land Company. Along 24th Street,
to the east of the Warwick were a barber shop, saloon, billiard
parlor and a laundry (Sanborn 1885) (Figures 3:19 and 3:20).

The 1889 Sanborm Map

Between 1885 and 1889 a steamer pier and depot were erected
to the south of Pier No. 1. To the north of Pier No. 2, the site
of the proposed lumber pier and pumping station remained vacant.
Still further north, the C & O coal trestles extended out over the
river, supporting railroad tracks. Shanties and tenements,
occupied by blacks, flanked the south side of the railroad tracks
that led to the coal trestles. The Newport News Mills, a feed-
mill complex, was located on 28th Street, in close proximity to
Pier No. 2 and the C & O grain elevator. Shanties were scattered
in a seemingly random fashion throughout the area. The tracks of
the C & 0 were flanked by warehouses and a cattle shed and
tenements were situated close to the tracks that led to the C & O
grain elevator. Between 1885 and 1889, the number of buildings
that were situated on the north side of B (or 17th) Street
doubled, thanks to the addition of a tailor's shop, dry goods
store, and several general stores. A former saloon had been
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converted into a tenement whereas a nearby dwelling had been made
into a saloon. Several new buildings had been erected along the
south side of B Street and the New York House had added a detached
kitchen. At the foot of B Street were the Warwick Exchange, the
local court justice's office and an assortment of small buildings.
Dwellings, tenements, and grocery stores were scattered along 17th
Street (Sanborn 1889) (Figures 3:21 and 3:22).

In 1889, when the Sanborn Insurance Company's cartographers
mapped the blocks between 23rd and 30th Streets and extended their
coverage eastward, taking in West, Washington and Lafayette
Avenues, all of that area had been laid out into blocks and lots;
development, however, was minimal. On 23rd Street were two
saloons, a ship supply store, an ice house, a dwelling, and a
general store. Nearby was two warehouses. The Warwick Iron
Works, which stood at the corner of 24th Street and Virginia
Avenue, encompassed five lots. To the ironworks' west was a large
carriage house, behind which was a carpenter shop (Sanborn 1889)
(Figure 3:23). ©Near the Hotel Warwick, the building that in 1885
had housed the town's post office, by 1889 contained the county
courthouse. A dwelling and a row of four tenements had been built
that fronted on 24th Street. Moving northward, a large Episcopal
church was located at 209 25th Street and a dry goods and notions
store, at 444 Washington Avenue. Directly across Washington
Avenue from the dry goods store were two dwellings. On the
northeast corner of Washington and 25th was a combination ship
chandlery and hardware store and at 217 25th Street was a funeral
parlor, behind which were a cabinet shop and kitchen. A
Methodist~Episcopal church stood on the southeast cormer of 26th
Street and Washington Avenue, opposite a drugstore and print shop
(Sanborn 1889) (Figure 3:24).

The Lafayette Hotel, a three-story, L—shaged building, sat on
the corner of Lafayette Avenue and 27th Street 3 and a row of
duplex tenements was located on the south side of 27th street,
between Lafayette and Virginia Avenues. Three grocery stores, a
general store and a barber shop were aligned along the west side
of Washington Avenue, between 27th and 28th Streets. Both
attached and detached dwellings were scattered throughout this
area. Two groups of row houses were situated on the north side of
27th Street, between West and Washington Avenues, and the Union

23After the Warwick Hotel opened for business, the Lafayette was
used as a residential hotel. Later the building was the
headquarters of a military academy rum by Col. E. W. Huffman. In
1903 the Newport News General Hospital was authorized by amn act of
the General Assembly. It was installed in the Lafayette Hotel
building until August 1, 1907, at which time the hospital closed
its doors. In 1958, structures in the vicinity of Huntington
Avenue and 27th Street were razed and 27th Street's right-of-way
between Huntington and Virginia Avenues was closed permanently to
permit construction of the new Sears building (Jester 1961:189;
Brown 1979:46).
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Chapel, an interdenominational house-of-worship, stood at 226 28th
Street. There was a bakery on the southeast corner of 28th Street
and Washington Avenue and a school house was located to the east,
at 219 28th Street. Between 28th and 30th Streets were a number
of large, detached dwellings, the majority of which were on the
west side of Washington Avenue. There was a livery stable on
Washington Avenue. A large 2 1/2 story dwelling on the southeast
corner of 30th Street and Washington Avenue occupied three lots.
Diagonally across the street, on the northwest corner of 30th and
Washington was a Baptist church; nearby, on the northwest cormner
of 29th and Washington, was an oversized lot that was identified
as the site of a new Baptist house-of-worship. The foundation of
the new church's lecture room already had been built. Residential
development was scattered throughout the blocks between Lafayette
and West Avenues. From the north side of 28th Street, northward,
were relatively large, detached dwellings. To the south of 28th
Street were row houses and dwellings of a lesser size. Local
shopping facilities, such as groceries, bakeries and general
stores were convenient to all of these neighborhoods (Sanborn
1889) (Figure 3:25). The only property to the north of 37th
Street that was mapped by agents of the Sanborn Insurance Company
in 1889, belonged to the Newport News Dry Dock and Construction
Company. The shipyard's facilities included two piers, a dry
dock, offices, storage buildings and machine, carpenter and
blacksmith shops (Sanborm 1889) (Figure 3:26).

In 1889, acreage to the east of the C & O main line was
mapped by the Sanborn Insurance Company for the very first time.
Rows of duplex tenements flanked both sides of Warwick Avenue
between 23rd and 24th Streets and lined the east side of Warwick
above 24th. Near this neighborhood were two groceries and a
saloon. Very few of the lots between Warwick and Jefferson
Avenues had been developed. Between 2lst and 22nd Streets and
spanning Hampton Avenue, were rows of duplex tenements. A butcher
shop, drugstore, and three groceries were close at hand, as were
seven saloons, one of also sold groceries. Most of these
establishments were situated on the west side of Jefferson Avenue.
On the east side of Jefferson Avenue were three duplexes plus a
thin scattering of local businesses, including two general stores.
a cobbler's shop, two dry goods stores, an eatery, and four
saloons. Three of the four saloons fronted west upon Jefferson
Avenue between Hampton Avenue and 2lst Street. Duplexes lined
both sides of Hampton Avenue, whereas tenements were located on
both sides of 21st Street. Tenements and duplexes also stood on
the opposing sides of 23rd and 24th Streets. Two school buildings
sat upon adjoining lots on 22nd Street, between Jefferson and
Madison Avenues. The presence of the African Baptist Church on
the northeast corner of 23rd Street and Jefferson Avenue implies
that this area contained blacks (Sanborn 1889) (Figures 3:27 and
3:28).

The 1890s

A map of Newport News, prepared in January 1891, identifies
the various land development companies that owned certain parts of

26
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the town. Much of the area that was laid off into streets and
blocks was then undeveloped (Braxton 1891) (Figure 3:29).

The 1891 Sanborm Map

Between 1889 and 1891, few changes occurred in the vicinity
of Pier Nos. 1, 2, and 3. However, much new development was in
progress on A Street, where many of the previously existing
shanties were being replaced by small eateries, restaurants,
grocery and produce stores, cobbler's and barber's shops, an
oyster house, and other commercial facilities. Further inland,
numerous shanties fronted south upon A Street. On B (l17th)
Street, near the waterfront, commercial development predominated,
Although residential development along B Street had increased
modestly since 1889, fewer changes were in evidence on A Street.
At the foot of 17th Street were the Warwick Exchange and the other
buildings that had been present two years earlier (Sanborn 1891)
(Figures 3:30 through 3:32).

By 1891 much new construction occurred in the blocks between
23rd and 30th Streets, especially to the north of 25th Street.
The Palace Hotel had been erected on 25th Street upon two
adjoining lots that formerly had been occupied by a saloon. Four
new saloons were aligned along the east side of Washington Avenue,
between 23rd and 24th Streets, close to the waterfronmt. On the
both sides of Washington Avenue, between 25th and 27th Streets,
commercial development had intensified and many of the lots that
faced 26th and 27th Streets contained newly constructed dwellings.
Little change had occurred in the vicinity of the Lafayette
Hotel.24 To the west of Washington Avenue, a lengthy row of
attached dwellings stood on the south side of 28th Street,
opposite which were detached homes. A large public school was
located on 28th Street.29 By 1891 rowhouses and duplexes stood
along 29th, 36th and 37th Streets and some new commercial
development had occurred between 28th and 31st Streets, fronting
upon Jefferson Avenue. A large Christian Church stood on 30th
Street, midway between West and Washington Avenues. Between 1889
and 1891 several brick buildings were erected in the blocks
between Lafayette and West (Sanborn 1891) (Figures 3:33 through
3:36)., In 1891 an electric plant was under construction on
Virginia Avenue. Lumber yards, wood works, a feed mill, and a
lime and feed mill were located in the blocks hemmed in by 27th
and 30th Streets, Virginia Avenue and the main line of the C & O
(Sanborn 1891) (Figures 3:37 and 3:38).

241pn the summer of 1890, a devastating fire in downtown Newport
News destroyed all but one building in the block beteen 27th and
28th Streets and Washington and Lafayette Avenues. A volunteer
fire-fighting unit was organized the following year (Jester
1961:187).

25This was Newport News' first modern school. 1In 1908 it was
renamed the John W. Daniel School. The building, though badly
burned in June 1913, was repaired; it was in use until the 1980s
(Jester 1961:189).
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